University of Wisconsin Milwaukee

UWM Digital Commons

Theses and Dissertations

May 2016

Taboo Topics in Close Relationships: An Update

Lauren Jean Johnsen University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.uwm.edu/etd

Part of the Communication Commons

Recommended Citation

Johnsen, Lauren Jean, "Taboo Topics in Close Relationships: An Update" (2016). *Theses and Dissertations*. 3282. https://dc.uwm.edu/etd/3282

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by UWM Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UWM Digital Commons. For more information, please contact scholarlycommunicationteam-group@uwm.edu.

TABOO TOPICS IN CLOSE RELATIONSHIPS: AN UPDATE

by

Lauren J. Johnsen

A Thesis Submitted in

Partial Fulfullment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Arts

in Communication

at

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

May 2016

ABSTRACT

TABOO TOPICS IN CLOSE RELATIONSHIPS: AN UPDATE

by

Lauren Johnsen

The University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 2016 Under the Supervision of Professor Erin Sahlstein Parcell, PhD

This study updates Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) seminal study that generated a list of taboo topics in close relationships. Their original list included seven topic categories: (a) state of the relationship; (b) extra-relationship activity; (c) relationship norms; (d) prior relationships; (e) conflict-inducing topics; (f) negatively-valenced self-disclosure; and (g) other. Participants in the current study reported taboo topics for a friendship and a current (or past) romantic relationship. While the current results did find overlapping topic categories (extra-relationship activity, relationship norms, prior relationships, and other), the topic frequencies reported differed from the original and the topics expanded by nine: (a) sex, (b) hot button topics, (c) health, (d) personal issues, (e) individual past/present/future, (f) death/dying, (g) money/finances, and (h) previous state of the relationship, (i) other. Participants reported not explicitly designating these topics as taboo. Avoiding topics without explicit discussion suggests talking about *if* a topic is taboo *is taboo* in close relationships.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

Abstractii
List of Tablesv
Acknowledgementsvi
Introduction1
Literature Review
Baxter and Wilmot (1985) Study2
State of the relationship
Extra-relationship activity4
Relationship norms4
Prior relationships
Conflict-inducing topics
Negatively-valenced self-disclosure
Baxter and Wilmot: An Update6
Method
Participants
Procedures12
Survey
Data Analysis
Results15
RQ1 and RQ215
RQ326
RQ4, and RQ528
RQ629
Discussion
Limitations
Conclusion
Tables
References
Appendices

Appendix A: Recruitment Email	54
Appendix B: Extra Credit Alternative	55
Appendix C: Consent Form	56
Appendix D: Taboo Topics Survey	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Topic Categories	.38
Table 2: Reason Categories	.40
Table 3: Percentage (k) of Taboo Topics in Current Study vs. Baxter & Wilmot (1985)	.42
Table 4: Frequencies of Taboo Topics by Relationship Type	.43
Table 5: Frequency of Reasons by Relationship Type	.45
Table 6: Frequency of Explicitly Decided Topics by Relationship Type	.47

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisor Dr. Erin Sahlstein Parcell for her support and encouragement during my Master's program, especially while completing my thesis project. Erin has helped me grow as a writer and researcher over these last two years, and I am grateful for her continued support and encouragement.

Next, I would like to thank my committee who have each played a role in helping me become a better graduate student. Dr. Lindsay Timmerman's class on the Dark Side of Interpersonal Communication sparked my interest in the seedy underbelly of communication studies, and was one of the many catalysts that led me to this project, and many projects to come. Dr. Erin Ruppel has been a wonderful resource to the data analysis portion of this project, and I appreciate her willingness and patience. My entire committee has provided me with wonderful ideas and changes to this project that have helped make it a project I am truly proud of, and for that I thank them all. Erin, Lindsay, and Erin have been incredibly supportive and encouraging during my time as a Master's student. All three have helped bring this project to fruition, and have pushed me to become a better researcher, writer, and overall graduate student. I am incredibly grateful for their continued support and encouragement as I move into the next phase of my graduate career.

I need to thank my undergraduate research assistant, Erin Pacheco, for all of her help in the coding process. I would also like to thank Dr. Sang-Yeon Kim for assisting with the data analysis process.

I would like to thank all of my amazing colleagues and friends at UWM. Thank you all for helping me figure out what it means to be a graduate student and inspiring me by all of the amazing things you do. Thank you all for welcoming me into the UWM community, and for

vi

always being willing to help me out. I have grown immensely as a student, scholar, and teacher, and for that I thank each and every one of you.

To my dear friend Joel, I cannot begin to express how grateful I am for the support and encouragement you've given me over the years. You believe in me even when I don't believe in myself, and for that I am eternally grateful. I know I would not be where I am today without you, and I sincerely thank you for your continued love and support as I continue on in my career.

Finally, I need to thank my family. First, I thank my Dad, Terry, for his believing in me and supporting my career aspirations when he was alive. Even though he did not live to be a part of my graduate school journey, I carry him with me always and know he would be proud. Next, would like to thank my Mom, Claudia, for her unconditional support and encouragement, and her willingness to lend an ear whenever I needed it. Without her I'm not sure I would have completed this leg of my graduate school journey. I also need to thank my older brothers, Erik and Tom, for supporting me and helping me through these last two years, I am eternally grateful for your love and encouragement. Without you two, I would not be the person I am today, and for that I thank you.

First published 30 years ago, Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) seminal study sought to shed light on an understudied area: taboo topics in close, interpersonal relationships. Their study was one of the first to examine whether or not topic avoidance was detrimental to relationship development (e.g., Parks, 1982). The aims of their study were to understand what topics are considered taboo and why individuals perceived those topics as such. Prior studies had posited possible categories and reasons that individuals might avoid talking about certain topics (e.g., Goffman, 1967; Kurth, 1970; Rawlins, 1983), but none resulted in lists of specific topics avoided by individuals. Since its publication, Baxter and Wilmot's study has been cited over 300 times (as of April 2015) but not replicated. References to Baxter and Wilmot's work typically acknowledge the existence of topic avoidance and taboo topics in close relationships (e.g., Caughlin & Golish, 2002; DePaulo & Kashy, 1998; Donovan-Kicken, Guinn, Romo, & Ciceraro, 2013; Donovan-Kicken, McGlynn, & Damron, 2012; Malachowski & Dillow, 2011) or focus on specific topics generated from the original list and reasons for avoiding those topics (e.g., Afifi & Burgoon, 1998; Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Anderson, Kunkel, & Dennis, 2011; Baumgarte, 2002; Bisson & Levine, 2009; Dillow, Dunleavy, & Weber, 2009; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995; Jang & Yoo, 2009; Knobloch & Carpenter-Theune, 2004; Roloff & Ifert, 2000; Roloff & Johnson, 2001; Sargent, 2002; Thompson & Vangelisti, 2016; Weger & Emmett, 2009). Furthermore, no existing study since Baxter and Wilmot's has sought to update the taboo topics list in the context of opposite-sex romantic relationships, or platonic relationships. This thesis investigated whether their topics remain taboo, whether any new categories emerged, as well as what topics are taboo in same-sex relationships.

Literature Review

Self-disclosure, or sharing information about yourself with another person (Cozby, 1973), was once assumed to only bring about positive outcomes in a relationship. For example, Altman and Taylor's (1973) influential social penetration theory posits that as individuals spend more time with relationship partners, they are more likely to disclose information about themselves to their partner. This theory states that as relationships become more intimate, individuals disclose more information about themselves, which in turn makes relationships more intimate – and the cycle continues. On the contrary, Parks (1982) found that information control (i.e., a lack of self-disclosure) has positive effects on relational development. Parks was one of the first to note that not sharing information with others can result in more intimate relationships, and aid in relational development, because it potentially protects one or both parties from possible embarrassment.

In an attempt to further investigate a lack of self-disclosure and balance out the existing pro-self-disclosure literature, Baxter and Wilmot (1985) focused on the "taboo topic," which at the time had yet to be defined. In their seminal study, Baxter and Wilmot noted that a lack of self-disclosure did not indicate the presence of a taboo topic; rather, "a topic is 'taboo' if it is avoided because the person anticipates negative outcomes from its discussion" (p. 254). Their study was the first to not only define taboo topics but also to create a list of taboo topics avoided in close relationships.

Baxter and Wilmot (1985) Study

Baxter and Wilmot (1985) conducted 90 ethnographic interviews with undergraduate students at a small liberal arts college. They asked their participants to list taboo topics for a platonic cross-sex friendship, a romantic-potential cross-sex relationship, or a romantic cross-sex relationship. Participants reported 172 taboo topics that the researchers coded into seven

categories: (a) state of the relationship, (b) extra-relationship activity, (c) relationship norms, (d) prior relationships, (e) conflict-inducing topics, (f) negatively-valenced self-disclosure, and (g) other.

Prior to Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) study, only a few researchers studied a lack of selfdisclosure and taboo topics specifically. Rosenfeld (1979) examined why self-disclosure is avoided but he did so without identifying specific topics. Rawlins (1983) studied friendships and found that friends are hesitant to discuss topics that might hurt their friend's feelings, topics that were 'touchy' for their friend, past experiences that they would prefer not to re-live, and topics that would jeopardize their friend's opinion of them. Goffman (1967) argued that embarrassing, humiliating, or painful topics for the self or another person could be avoided, and Kurth (1970) singled out issues of conflict and relationship involvement levels as potential taboo topics. Neither Goffman (1967) nor Kurth (1970) generated an exhaustive list of taboo topics within close relationships. Each taboo topic and the reasons for their avoidance (as reported by Baxter and Wilmot) are discussed below.

State of the relationship. State of the relationship topics involved the explicit discussion of the current or future state of the relationship. The state of the relationship was most often avoided due to relationship destruction, which was most frequently attributed to unequal commitment between the individual and their partner. A second reason was individual vulnerability; one participant noted that if "you leave yourself vulnerable, which I don't like to be, your feelings can get hurt" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 261). Talking about her relationship itself was taboo for that individual, and others, due to feeling vulnerable and being open to hurt feelings. A third reason, effectiveness of the tacit mode, basically notes that individuals felt they were not able to communicate their feelings about the relationship, that words "were at best a

weak substitute for what was 'just understood'" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 261). A fourth reason, futility of talk, encompassed the idea that relationships are controlled by forces beyond the partners. Participants felt that they did not have control over the future of their relationship, and that discussing the relationship state would not change where the relationship was going. One participant noted that because the future "was always up in the air... nothing would have been concluded from talking about it" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 261). The fifth reason, closeness cueing, was reported primarily by participants in platonic or romantic potential relationships. These participants "view[ed] relationship talk as something that occurs only in very close relationships...[and] the very act of relationship talk would convey greater closeness than they intended" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, pp. 261–262).

Extra-relationship activity. Extra-relationship activity refers to networks and activities outside of the relationship. Most respondents expressed concern that discussing extra-relationship activity would have negative relationship implications — anger or jealousy was most anticipated as their partner's reaction. Another reason was the right to privacy – some participants felt that either they or their partner had a right to "autonomy and privacy outside of their particular relationship" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 262). The potential for negative network implications was another reason participants avoided discussing extra-relationship activity. In general, respondents noted that what their partner did with certain others would 'put them in the middle' and would be awkward. For example, one participant avoided discussing "things that her boyfriend tells me… we both know that I shouldn't talk about stuff that her boyfriend says to me in confidence" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 262).

Relationship norms. Relationship norms encompassed topics involving explicit discussion of relationship rules (e.g., don't show affection in public). Two of the main reasons

reported for avoiding talking about relationship norms were the potential for negative relationship implications (e.g., conflict) and embarrassment (e.g., it's embarrassing to talk about sexual preferences). Participants felt that discussing normative behaviors in their relationship would cause an argument. One participant noted that her boyfriend's aggressive behavior was a taboo topic and that bringing it up would just make him defensive. Many topics falling under relationship norms were sexual behavior rules/norms (e.g., birth control), and many participants felt that it would be an embarrassing subject to discuss with their partner (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985).

Prior relationships. Prior relationships topics were those regarding previous relationships with members of the opposite sex. The first reason noted for avoiding prior relationships was the threat it could cause to the current relationship. One participant noted that his girlfriend "wouldn't bring up my old girlfriends because she was afraid I would start thinking about them or start seeing them again" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 263). About a third of the participant noted that talking about past relationships "places the emphasis on the past rather than on the present" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 263). Impression management was the third reason individuals avoided prior relationship discussion, indicating that it might result in their partner having a negative image of them. One participant noted that she had been in a lot more relationships than her partner and did not want him to think negatively of her because of it.

Conflict-inducing topics. Conflict-inducing topics were those that pointed out how dissimilar or different the two relationship parties were, resulting in conflict. A broad range of conflict-inducing topics were included in this category, but participants noted that these topics potentially pointed out ways that they were different from their partner, "resulting in an

argument, or the ultimate break-up of the relationship" (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985, p. 264). Individuals avoided these topics in case the differences were enough to potentially destroy their relationship.

Negatively-valenced self-disclosure. Negatively-valenced self-disclosure referred to topics that were damaging to one's image or were unpleasant to discuss. While this category included a broad range of topics, the commonality between topics was a negative perception of the participant. Participants reported that maintaining a positive image was their reason for avoiding topics in this category (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985)

Baxter and Wilmot: An Update

In three decades of research, no researcher has aimed to replicate Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) list or test whether it needs an update, even though this study has been cited hundreds of times. It is likely that new categories for topics could emerge from the data, and some categories could be eliminated altogether, which is why this update is needed. In the original study, Baxter and Wilmot (1985) found topics relating to sex, sexual health, and sexual experiences to be considered taboo by participants, and categorized them under two different categories (prior relationships and relationship norms). In subsequent studies, sexual encounters and sexual history has shown to be taboo (e.g., Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Anderson et al., 2011; Golish & Caughlin, 2002; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995; Sargent, 2002) so it is likely that topics relating to sex or sexual health will be reported by participants in this study. In the original study, sexual past and sexual health related topics were noted within multiple categories, but should instead be given a new category altogether (e.g., sexual behaviors, sexual health, etc.). Further, some categories should be eliminated from the original list before analyzing data (e.g., conflict inducing topics; negatively-valenced self-disclosure). Noting that a topic would cause a conflict

or make the individual look bad in the eyes of their relational partner conceptually reflect reasons for avoiding specific topics rather than substantive topic categories.

Another consideration is the type of relationships participants report on, and the sex of the participant and relational partner. Baxter and Wilmot (1985) asked participants to report taboo topics with one specific *cross-sex* relationship and then noted the type of relationship (platonic friend, romantic potential, or romantic partner) in their analyses. Given the increased attention given to same-sex romantic relationships, same-sex romantic relationships should be considered in this study.

The original study only included cross-sex friendships, but other scholars have investigated same-sex and cross-sex friendships and found there may be differences found in the types of topics same-sex and cross-sex friends avoid. Werking (1994) found cross-sex friends to be less affective than same-sex friend. Pilkington and Bilbro (1993) reported that cross-sex friends interact less frequently and have shorter interactions that same-sex friends. Buhrke and Fuqua (1987) investigated same-sex and cross-sex friends and found that women feel closer to and feel they know their same-sex friends better than their cross-sex friends; men reported their cross-sex friendships as closer than women. These findings could relate to the amount and kinds of topics (i.e. closer may have fewer topics; relationships with fewer contact may avoid more due to infrequent contact). Based on the issues above, the following research questions are posed:

RQ1: What are taboo topics in the close relationships (same-sex and opposite-sex friendships and romantic relationships) of college students?

RQ2: Why are these topics considered taboo?

RQ3: How does Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) list of taboo topics compare with the list derived in the current study?

Baxter and Wilmot (1985) tested for differences in relationship type and taboo topics by participant sex. While they did not find significant differences between men and women's content and frequency of taboo topics, nor in the participant sex-relationship type interaction, later studies have found differences in taboo topics by sex and relationship type. Guerrero and Afifi (1995) found that adolescents avoided discussing sexual matters with opposite-sex family members; males avoided discussing relationship issues, negative life experiences, dating experiences, and friendships more than females; and female dyads avoided topics the least. Hacker (1981) investigated self-disclosure in same-sex and cross-sex friendship dyads. Women and men were equally as likely to disclose in their same-sex friendships, but men were more likely to disclose information about themselves in their cross-sex friendships. Afifi and Guerrero (1998) also compared same-sex and cross-sex friends and found that individuals avoided discussing negative life experiences and relationship issues with males more than females; crosssex friends avoided disclosing issues related to dating and sexual experiences more than with same-sex friends.

Due to the fact that subsequent studies found differences tied to sex and relationship type, it is likely that the current study would also yield similar findings. Therefore, the following research question is posed:

RQ4a: Do taboo topics differ by participant sex and relationship type?

RQ4b: Do taboo topics differ between same-sex and cross-sex friends?

Baxter and Wilmot (1985) intended to test if reasons differed by participant sex and relationship type, but small cell sizes prohibited these analyses. The current dataset should have enough cases for friendships and romantic relationships in order to conduct an analysis of differences by participant sex and relationship type. Afifi and Guerrero (1998) found some sex

differences in the reasons topics were avoided. Specifically, they found that participant unresponsiveness, or a perception of participant unresponsiveness (i.e., "a feeling that the partner will be unable or unwilling to provide the necessary advice or support," [p. 236]) was more likely a reason why males avoided topics with other males, and found that females were more likely to note information-based motivations (i.e., "wish to control information or receive information of high quality," [p. 244]) as a reason for avoiding topics. They also found that individuals avoided topics for self-protection. Guerrero (1997) and Leary, Downs, and Radford-Davenport (1993) found that individuals were most concerned with managing their own identity with cross-sex friends than with same-sex friends; suggesting that individuals may report different reasons for topic avoidance with same-sex and cross-sex friends. Therefore, the following research question is posed:

RQ5a: Do reasons for having taboo topics differ by participant sex and relationship type? RQ5b: Do reasons for having taboo topics differ between same-sex and cross-sex friends?

Another line of research in this area has been in the dynamics of taboo topic negotiation within close relationships, and whether or not individuals explicitly decided that a given topic was taboo. Roloff and Ifert (1998) investigated implications of explicitly declaring topics as taboo, and found that explicit agreements are more likely when individuals declare the topics "unimportant to their relationship, but are less likely when the topic is perceived to be relationally harmful" (p. 191). While their study did not note specific topics, it did shed light on the broader categories of topics that individuals explicitly decided were "off limits." I want to extend this line of research with the following research question:

RQ6: What percentage of taboo topics have been explicitly declared as taboo within these relationships?

Subsequent studies have investigated the original topics (e.g., Afifi & Burgoon, 1998; Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Bisson & Levine, 2009; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995; Knoblach & Theune, 2004) and reported different topics as taboo (e.g., Afifi & Burgoon, 1998; Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Anderson et al., 2011; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995; Golish & Caughlin, 2002; Knoblach & Theune, 2004; Sargent, 2002). Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) study was originally published. This indicates that over the years, the kinds of taboo topics that individuals avoid discussing have changed and some have remained the same. The original study focused solely on cross-sex close relationships, the present study includes both same-sex and cross-sex relationships; scholars have found differences in the kinds of topics and reasons individuals related to relationship type and sex (e.g., Afifi & Burgoon, 1998; Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995; Golish & Caughlin, 2002) so it is likely that this study will follow suit and find differences. The original Baxter and Wilmot (1985) study was not able to test for sex and relationship type differences due to a low number of cases, and the present study increased the sample size in order to be able to test for differences by sex and relationship type. Given that there are likely to be changes to the types of topics reported, as well as possible differences between topic type and reasons for sex and relationship type, an update of the original Baxter and Wil mot (1985) study is warranted.

Method

Participants

In total, 178 surveys were received, 30 surveys were unusable (i.e., noting no topics as taboo, leaving all questions blank, or low closeness measure) and eliminated, resulting in 148 usable surveys. One hundred and eleven participants self-identified as female (75%), 35

participants self-identified as male (23.6%), and two participants (1.4%) did not disclose; participants ranged in age from 18-59 years (M = 21.5 years, SD = 5.5 years).

Out of the 148 participants, 136 participants reported a total of 153 topics for a platonic friendship (M = 1.1 topics per participant); 20.9% (k = 32 topics) were explicitly declared taboo, while 79.1% (121 topics) were not. Eighty-six participants (63.2%) reported on a female friend, 48 participants (35.3%) reported on a male friend and two participants (1.5%) did not disclose the gender of their friend. Ninety-one participants (66.9%) reported on a same-sex friendship, 43 participants (31.6%) reported on a cross-sex friendship, and two participants (1.5%) did not disclose disclose whether or not it was a same-sex or cross-sex friendship. Friendships ranged in length from three months to 32 years (M = 61.8 months, SD = 65 months).

Seventy-six participants reported 89 topics (M = 1.2 topics per participant) for a current romantic relationship (casual dating = 7; serious dating = 62; married/life partner = 3; other = 4); 42.7% (k = 38 topics) were explicitly declared taboo, and 57.3% (k = 51 topics) were not. Ten participants noted their romantic partner was female, 65 participants noted their romantic partner was male, and one participant did not disclose their partner's gender; relationships ranged in length from one month to 13 years (M = 24.8 months, SD = 29.2). Seventy-four participants (97.2%) reported on a cross-sex romantic relationship, two participants reported on a same-sex romantic relationship (2.8%).

Thirty-four participants reported a total of 41 topics (M = 1.2 topics per participant) for a recent (within the last two years) romantic relationship (casual dating = 11; serious dating = 23); 57.1% (k = 24 topics) were explicitly declared taboo, and 42.9% (k = 18) topics were not. Twelve participants noted their romantic partner was female and 22 participants noted their romantic partner was male; relationships ranged in length from 1 month to 6 years (M = 16.8, SD

= 17.14 months). Thirty-two participants (94.1%) reported on a cross-sex romantic relationship, and two participants (5.9%) reported on a same-sex romantic relationship.

Procedures

After IRB approval was granted, participants were recruited from a 100-level communication course at a large, Midwestern university via an email that outlined the purpose, possible risks and benefits, and a description of the survey (See Appendix A). The survey took no more than 30 minutes to complete, and participants earned extra credit for participating. An alternative assignment was offered to participants if they wished to receive extra credit but could not or did not want to complete the survey (see Appendix B).

Survey

After the initial informed consent page (see Appendix C), the participants completed the online survey via Qualtrics (see Appendix D). At the start of each question block participants were provided Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) definition of taboo topics (i.e., "a topic is 'taboo' if it is avoided because the person anticipates negative outcomes from its discussion," p. 254). Survey questions were modeled after Anderson et al.'s (2011) survey about past sexual experiences as a taboo topic. The first block of questions asked participants to think about a specific, close platonic friend. Participants then reported demographic information and answered seven 7-point Likert-type questions measuring closeness, modified from Vangelisti and Caughlin (1997) (e.g., "I like my friend," "my friend and I are close," "my friend and I talk about personal things"). Reliability for this measure is acceptable ($\alpha = .95$); any participant that reported satisfaction below 28 was excluded from analysis. Participants were then asked to list up to six taboo topics for their close platonic friend, what could happen if the topics were discussed, and whether or not this topic was explicitly declared taboo (if not, participants were asked to explain

how they knew the topic was taboo with their friend. If participants were currently in a romantic relationship (or had been in one in the last two years) they then answered the same set of questions for their current or most recent romantic partner (see Appendix A). Reliability for the closeness measure is acceptable for current ($\alpha = .97$) and past ($\alpha = .93$) romantic relationships; any participant that reported satisfaction below theoretical middle point of the satisfaction measures (28) was excluded from analysis to ensure that participants were reporting on a close relationship.

Data Analysis

Once all of the responses were received and disqualifying answers had been discarded, data were coded by the researcher and an undergraduate research assistant. First, half of the data was archived for analysis at a later point. Next, the first half of the taboo topics for friendships and romantic relationships were coded using the original list generated by Baxter and Wilmot (1985), which was modified, given that two topics were determined to be reasons and not substantive categories (i.e., the original topics of negatively-valenced self-disclosure and conflict-inducing topics were eliminated). Any topics that could not be categorized into the modified list were placed into the catch-all "other" category.

The undergraduate research assistant was trained on the initial four codes (state of the relationship, extra-relationship activity, prior relationships, and other), and both the researcher and the research assistant coded the first half of the topics for friendships and romantic relationships. Once an acceptable level of intercoder reliability was reached (*Cohen's Kappa* = .80), the topics in the first half of the friendship and romantic relationships in "other" were recategorized by the researcher using the constant comparison method to create new categories. The researcher took the first topic listed, categorized it, then compared the second to the first; if

it was deemed similar it was put into the first category, if not a new category was created, and this was done for every topic reported that did not fit into the original category list (Strauss & Corbin, 1990). The undergraduate research assistant was then trained on the new codes, and coded the "other" topics to check for intercoder reliability in the first half of the topics for friendships and romantic relationships, and an acceptable level was reached for both relationship types (*Cohen's Kappa* = 1.00). Once the topic categories were finalized, the undergraduate research assistant coded the archived topics.

After all topics were categorized, and fewer than 10% of the topics were noted as "other," the reasons were analyzed using the same procedure as the topic coding. The first half of the reasons for friendships and romantic relationships were coded using the original reasons noted within the original topic categories, along with an "other" category. The undergraduate research assistant and the researcher independently coded the first half of the reasons for both friendships and romantic relationships, and an acceptable level of intercoder reliability was achieved (*Cohen's Kappa* = .82). Next, the researcher used the reasons coded into "other" to elaborate the existing coding scheme using the constant comparison method. Then, the research assistant coded the "other" reasons using the new scheme. Once an acceptable level of intercoder reliability was reached (*Cohen's Kappa* = .80), the archived reasons were then coded by the researcher. For both topics and reasons, any coding differences were resolved by the researcher for inclusion in the final dataset.

Thirteen topic categories (state of the relationship, previous state of the relationship, relationship norms, prior relationships, extra-relationship activity, health, individual's past/present/future, personal issues, hot button topics, sex, finances/money, death/dying, and other) and 14 reason categories (negative relational implications, relationship destruction, threat

to current relationships, negative network implications, effectiveness of the tacit mode, inappropriate for relationship type, change in relationship status, protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions, embarrassment, negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management, individual vulnerability, right to privacy, irrelevance of past, and other) emerged from the current dataset (See Tables 1 & 2). Given the large number of topic and reason primary codes, the researcher created second-level codes for both lists to conduct more robust tests when answering RQ4 and RQ5. The primary-level taboo topic types were collapsed into four second-level categories: (a) relational talk (state of the relationship, previous state of the relationship, relationship norms, and prior relationships); (b) individual talk (extra-relationship activity, health, individual's past/present/future, and personal issues); (c) emotional talk (hot button topics, sex, finances/money, and death/dying); and other. The primary-level reasons codes were collapsed into three second-level categories: (a) relational reasons (negative relational implications, relationship destruction, threat to current relationships, negative network implications, effectiveness of the tacit mode, inappropriate for relationship type, and change in relationship status); (b) individual reasons (protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions, embarrassment, negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management, individual vulnerability, right to privacy, and irrelevance of past); and (c) other.

Results

RQ1 and RQ2

The first research question asked what topics were considered taboo for same-sex and cross-sex friends and romantic relationships, the second research questions asked why those topics are considered taboo. Following the coding procedures noted previously, nine new

categories emerged from the data, resulting in 13 total categories of taboo topics and 14 reason categories emerged.

Extra-relationship activity. The most frequently reported topic (k = 55, 19.5% of topics) was extra-relationship activity. This category referred to a relationship or activity outside of the relational dyad. Participants across both relational types (platonic friend and current or past romantic partner) reported a variety of outside relationships as taboo, such as family (e.g., my mother, his relationship with his dad, my dislike for his sister), friends/coworkers, and one participant noted that having feelings for other people or cheating was a taboo topic with their current romantic partners. There were five reasons participants reported for why extra-relationship activity was a taboo topic: (a) negative relational implications; (b) protect self/others from negative feelings/emotions; (c) potential for negative network implications; (d) right to privacy; and (e) negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management.

Negative relational implications. Negative relational implications included one or both partners feeling jealous, or relational partners having a conflict or argument. Participants mainly noted they would disagree or argue if a specific relationship outside of the dyad was brought up. One participant reported that bringing up their friend's dad would result in an argument and they "would stop talking for a day or two." Another participant reported discussing the ways her friend raises their children was taboo, and she worried that discussing this topic would result in her friend getting angry at her and possibly even ending the relationship.

Protect self/others from negative feelings/emotions. This reason refers to participants avoiding a topic because talking about it might upset their partner or themselves. Participants reported that they or their partner might feel sad, upset, irritated, awkward, and uncomfortable if the topic was discussed.

Potential for negative network implications. Topics were also avoided due to the *potential for negative network implications*, which meant talking about it could damage or affect a relationship outside of the one with their partner or friend. One participant described how discussing family issues with their romantic partner could get back to their family and upset them. Another participant shared that discussing roommates' behavior with their friends was a taboo topic because it could get back to the roommates and affect those relationships.

Right to privacy. Right to privacy referred to participants recognizing their partner as having the right to autonomy outside of their relationship, with one participant noting that discussing his friend's romantic partner would seem as if he were overstepping and discussing something that was not his business.

Negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management. The last reason was *negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management*, which referred to one partner judging the other, or one partner looking bad in the eyes of the other. For example, one participant reported avoiding discussions about their romantic partner with their friend because the friend might judge them.

Sex. The second most frequently reported taboo topic was Sex (k = 47, 16.6% of topics). This category covered a range of topics such as sexual intercourse and other sexual activity, specific current or past sexual activity/partners, and pornography viewing. For example, one participant noted that "having a threesome, bringing another guy into the bedroom" was a taboo topic for their current romantic partner. Participants reported four reasons that topics related to sex were taboo: (a) protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions; (b) negative relational implications; (c) negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management; and (d) potential change in relational status.

Protect themselves or their partner from negative feelings/emotions. The main reason participants avoided discussing sex and sexual topics was to *protect themselves or their partner from negative feelings/emotions*. Participants noted discussing topics related to sex could potentially make them uncomfortable, or even hurt by their partner's past sexual relationships. A few participants noted that discussing pornography was a taboo topic with their current romantic partner, and all worried it would offend or hurt their partner. For example, one participant noted their romantic partner might feel as if they are not good enough if they discussed pornography.

Negative relational implications. Some participants noted discussing sex would have *negative relational implications*, for example they would argue or have some sort of falling out from the discussion of topics related to sex.

Negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management. Some participants worried their friend or romantic partner would judge them or view them negatively based on their past or current sexual relationships (i.e., *negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management*).

Potential change in relational status. One participant worried that discussing sex with their friend could lead to a *potential change in relational status*, noting "we might start to cross a line between being friends and wanting more."

Hot button topics. The third most reported taboo topic category was Hot Button Topics (k = 46, 16.3% of topics), which covered a range of societal debates or cultural ideals. Religion and politics were the most reported topics in this category. Topics such as race, gender issues, and other debates was also reported as taboo. Participants reported five main reasons for avoiding the discussion of hot button topics: (a) negative relational implications; (b) protection

of self/other from negative feelings/emotions; (c) negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management; (d) individual vulnerability; and (e) effectiveness of the tacit mode.

Negative relational implications. The majority of participants reported a hot button topic was taboo because it could lead to *negative relational implications*. Most people noted that they disagree with one another on the specific cultural issue, and a conflict or argument would arise from bringing up that specific topic, some participants even noted their friend might get so angry they would not speak with them for a few days.

Protecting themselves and their partner from negative emotions/feelings. Another reason for avoiding these topics was to protect themselves or their friend from getting upset or hurt. Participants noted their friend or romantic partner would be uncomfortable discussing hot button topic or the discussion would be awkward.

Negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management. One participant, who mentioned that the friend they reported on was also their boss, and they did not want their political views affecting their boss's perception of them (i.e. *negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management*).

Individual vulnerability. Participants reported *individual vulnerability* (feeling exposed) when they stated they would feel targeted if the subject of religion were discussed.

Effectiveness of the tacit mode. This reason referred to not needing to discuss a topic because it was simply known, and specifically noted that they know their friend is wrong without needing to discuss it. Other participants noted knowing their partner's or friend's beliefs without having to discuss it, and that discussing it would not change how they or their partner views the topic.

Prior relationships. This category covered topics relating to relationships in the past that did not occur between the participant and the individual they reported on, was the next most frequently reported topic (k = 46, 16.3% of topics). Most participants simply listed some version of the term "past relationships," (e.g., exes, ex partners) while one participant noted a specific ex-partner. Participants avoided the discussion of prior relationships for five reasons: (a) negative relational implications; (b) threat to the relationship; (c) protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions; (d) negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management; and (e) inappropriate for relational type.

Negative relational implications. Participants mainly felt that bringing up past relationships (almost entirely romantic relationships) or specific individuals would result in an argument or fight (i.e., *negative relational implications*).

Threat to current relationship. Similarly, some participants felt talking about prior relationships would threaten their current relationship, meaning they would break up as a direct result of discussing a past relationship, and some felt that bringing up the past would bring up old feelings that might threaten their current relationship.

Negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management. Bringing up past relationships would potentially lead to a friend or current romantic partner judging them or viewing them negatively for their past (i.e., *negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management*).

Inappropriate for relational type. One of the participants noted that discussing exes was something that should be done with friends and not a romantic partner (i.e., *inappropriate for relational type*).

Health. Health involved topics related to either the participant's or their partner's physical or mental health (k = 22, 7.8% of topics). Participants reported topics such as weight problems, alcohol addiction, mental health issues, eating habits, and "TMI" health information. Two reasons were noted for avoiding the discussion of physical or mental health: (a) protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions; and (b) negative relational implications.

Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions. Participants mainly felt that bringing up personal health issues (either their partner's or their own) would make one or both partners upset, uncomfortable, or even offended and defensive.

Negative relational implications. Other participants reported bringing up physical or mental health topics would result in an argument or some sort of conflict that could harm the relationship.

State of the relationship. The State of the Relationship involved the explicit discussion of the current or future state of the relationship (k = 12, 4.3% of topics). Most topics reported in this category were from participants reporting on a current romantic relationship, and topics included things such as marriage, having kids, and moving in together. One participant shared that the uncertainty of their partner's military future and how it may affect their future relationship was a taboo topic. Reasons for avoiding the state of the relationship included: (a) negative relational implications; (b) relationship destruction; (c) effectiveness of the tacit mode; (d) individual vulnerability; and (e) protect self/other from negative emotions/feelings.

Negative relational implications. Others felt that discussing the current or future state of the relationship could result in an argument or conflict. One participant explained questioning the

state of the relationship might make their current romantic partner feel that the "relationship is unwanted" which is why they avoided discussing this topic.

Relationship destruction. Some participants reporting on a current romantic relationship felt that discussing where the relationship could go in the future (e.g., marriage or moving in together) would result in the relationship ending.

Effectiveness of the tacit mode. Another participant felt that discussing the future was not worthwhile, as it was just understood that both partners preferred to live and focus on the moment.

Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions. One participant reported their current romantic partner felt guilty about the uncertainty of their future in the military and how it may or may not affect the future of the relationship, so in order to avoid their partner feeling guilty, the topic is avoided.

Previous state of the relationship. A subcategory of State of the Relationship was Previous State of the Relationship (k = 7, 2.5% of topics), which involved the discussion of an event or prior relationship status (i.e., participant and friend used to date) that occurred in the past between the participant and the relational partner they reported on. For example, participants noted they used to date their now platonic friend and discussing that period of time of their relationship is now considered off-limits. Other participants reported a conflict or fight that occurred in the past that altered their current relationship status and perhaps even made their future uncertain. Participants reported three reasons for avoiding the discussing of the previous state of their relationship: (a) protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions; (b) irrelevance of the past; and (c) negative relational implication.

Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions. In order to avoid feeling awkward or uncomfortable about something that happened in the past (i.e., *protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions*), participants avoided the discussion of topics such as "what happened last year when we moved in together" or the period of time that they used to date.

Irrelevance of the past. Some participants felt it was not necessary to discuss their past, with one participant noting it was something they have already worked through and moved on from negative events in their past (i.e., *irrelevance of the past*).

Negative relational implications. Bringing up past events could also lead to *negative relational implications*, such as arguing or getting angry with one another.

Individual's past/present/future. This category referred to topics or events that occurred in one of the individuals' lives (either the participant or the relational partner being reported on) that only affected the individual (k = 13, 4.6% of topics). This category included topics such as "their adoption," career choices, going to different colleges, and going out partying/drinking. Two reasons for avoiding these topics were reported: (a) negative relational implications; and (b) protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions.

Negative relational implications. Participants reported that bringing up topics in their individual lives could result in arguments (i.e., *negative relational implications*). For example, participants reported that going to a different college than their friend or recent romantic partner made them feel jealous of their partners' new, separate lives, and so they avoided discussing things they were doing on their own.

Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions. Participants also avoided the discussion of events in the past/present/future to *protect self/other from negative*

feelings/emotions. Participants who reported particularly negative events from their past said that discussing these topics would make them upset or uncomfortable. One participant shared that they (and their current romantic partner) felt unhappy with choices they had each made in the past and preferred not to discuss those events with each other. Another participant noted their romantic partner could be doing better in school if they just tried a little harder, but she felt that bringing this up would make him uncomfortable or even defensive.

Personal issues. Personal Issues were reported across all three relationship types and covered a variety of topics that affected either the individual or partner (e.g., legal troubles, grades, and tattoos) (k = 11, 3.9% of topics). Three reasons were reported for avoiding personal issues: (a) protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions; (b) negative relational implications; and (c) right to privacy.

Protect self/others from negative feelings/emotions. Participants felt that discussing topics such as grades, or anything personal, would result in their friend or romantic partner being uncomfortable, upset, or defensive.

Negative relational implications. Other participants felt their relational partner might get angry at them, or that an argument could occur if a personal topic was brought up.

Right to privacy. Participants also reported that asking their partners about personal issues was inappropriate because they had a right to private information, and they would feel like they were being intrusive in their partners' lives.

Death or dying. Topics categorized as Death or Dying were reported only for platonic friend or a current romantic partner (k = 7, 2.5% of topics). Some participants reported that the

idea of death was a taboo topic, while others noted talking about specific people who had died (e.g., partner's child, sibling, or parent) was taboo.

Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions. The only reason participants noted for avoiding discussing the concept of death, or the death of a specific person was to protect themselves or their partner from negative emotions. For example, one participant noted that discussing the death of a friend's child made them both upset and angry at the circumstances surrounding the child's death.

Money/finances. Money/Finances covered anything related to money, though it was not always clear if it was an issue specific to the participant, their partner, or both (k = 7, 2.5% of topics). Most participants' responses in this category were vague (i.e., they listed topics such as "money," "money issues," "finances," or "family financial issues"), but some participants specifically noted income or their partner's spending habits as a taboo topic in their relationship. Reasons for avoiding these topics were: (a) protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions; (b) negatively-valenced self-disclosure; and (c) negative relational implications.

Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions. Participants mainly felt discussing money would make them uncomfortable (i.e., *protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions*).

Negatively-valenced-self disclosure/impression management. Some participants reported that discussing their own money issues could result in their partners feeling bad for them and viewing them negatively (i.e., *negatively-valenced-self disclosure/impression management*).

Negative relational implications. One participant noted that their past romantic partner valued money more than they did, and discussing money usually resulted in a fight, and other participants noted that they would argue about money (i.e., *negative relational implications*).

Relationship Norms. Relationship norms, or specific discussion of relationship rules, was the least reported topic across participants (k = 4, 1.4% of topics). Participants citing this taboo topic reported, for example, in their platonic friendships discussing things they disliked about each other was taboo. A participant wrote that pointing out a partner's "loose thread" or other minor flaw equated to "declaring her a mess and finding fault with her" which in turn hurt her feelings. Discussing or comparing a current romantic partner to others (in terms of personality, or appearance) was also reported as a taboo topic. Two reasons were given for avoiding relational norms: (a) negative relational implications; and (b) embarrassment.

Negative relational implications. Participants felt that discussing things like other people (and comparing their characteristics to a romantic partner) or specific things both partners disliked about each other would result in a fight, or jealousy (i.e., *negative relational implications*).

Embarrassment. Embarrassment was also reported as a reason for not discussing relationship norms. For example, the participant who noted discussing flaws in their partner's appearance was taboo, and felt that bringing up those flaws would cause their partner to feel extremely embarrassed or self-conscious.

RQ3

The third research question asked how Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) original list of taboo topics in close relationships compared to the one derived from the current study. Baxter and

Wilmot (1985) reported seven categories of taboo topics in close relationships: (a) state of the relationship; (b) extra-relationship activity; (c) relationship norms; (d) prior relationships; (e) conflict-inducing topics; (f) negatively-valenced self-disclosure; and (g) other. Prior to data analysis, conflict-inducing topics and negatively-valenced self-disclosure were deemed reasons for avoiding topics rather than categorical labels for specific taboo topics. A modified version of the list was used when initially coding topics: (a) state of the relationship; (b) extra-relationship activity; (c) relationship norms; and (d) other. These four categories were present in the current dataset but reported frequencies differed from Baxter and Wilmot's results (See Table 3).

State of the relationship. Baxter and Wilmot reported that the state of the relationship was the most frequently reported taboo topic type, representing 34.4% (k = 59) of all topics reported. In the current study, topics related to the state of the relationship was the sixth most reported topic, representing only 4.3% of the total reported topics (k = 12). An additional subcategory was added under state of the relationship (i.e., previous state of the relationship) – an additional 7 reported topics (2.5% of all topics reported) – bringing the total topics categorized as state of the relationships up to 20 topics (6.8% of the total).

Extra-relationship activity. Baxter and Wilmot reported extra-relationship activity as the second most frequent taboo topic type (k = 27, 15.7% of total taboo topics). In the present study extra-relationship activity was the most reported taboo topic (k = 56, representing 19.5% of the total taboo topics).

Relationship norms. The third most frequently reported taboo topic reported by Baxter and Wilmot was relationship norms (k = 22, 12.8% of the total taboo topics), which in the present study was the least reported taboo topic type (k = 4, 1.4% of the total taboo topics).

Prior relationships. Baxter and Wilmot reported prior relationships as the fourth most frequently reported taboo topic type (k = 22, 7.8% of the total taboo topics); prior relationships topics were similarly situated in the present study (k = 41, 14.5% of total taboo topics report) and was also noted as the fourth most frequently reported taboo topic.

The majority of the topics (k = 162, 57.4% of total) were placed in categories not found in the original study that were created throughout the coding process. An additional nine categories emerged from the data, resulting in a total of 13 taboo topic categories (sex, hot button topics, health, individual's past/present/future, personal issues, death/dying, money/finances, and other) (see Table 1 & 2).

RQ4 and RQ5

Research question 4a asked whether or not there were differences in topics reported by sex and relationship type; 4b asked if there were differences between same-sex and cross-sex friends. Research question 5a asked whether or not there were differences in reasons reported by sex and relationship type; 5b asked whether there were differences in reasons reported by same-sex and cross-sex friends. A series of factorial ANOVAs were conducted using gender and relationship type as fixed variables and topic frequencies and reason frequencies as dependent variables. No significant differences between women and men were found for topics or reasons, and no significant differences were found between same-sex and cross-sex friends for topics or reasons. There were some significant differences for relationship types for both topics and reasons, discussed below (See Tables 4 & 5).

There was a significant difference for relational talk topics ($F_{(2, 240)} = 14.72, p < .01$), and post hoc tests reflected significant differences (p < .01) between platonic friends (M = .21, SD =

.45) and current romantic partners (M = .60, SD = .60). There was also a significant difference between current romantic partners (M = .60, SD = .60) and past romantic partners (M = .31, SD =47) for relational talk topics (p < .05). Further, there was a significant difference by relationship type for emotional talk ($F_{(2, 240)} = 5.48$, p < .05), and post hoc tests reflected significant differences between platonic friends (M = .53, SD = .56) and current romantic partners (M = .28, SD = .53) (p < .05). There were no significant differences between relationship types for individual talk or other talk.

The data also reflect some differences in reason frequencies based on relationship type. There were significant differences between relationship types detected for relationship reasons $(F_{(2, 240)} = 4.54 \ p < .01)$, in particular between platonic friends (M = .46, SD = .65) and past romantic partners (M = .83, SD = .75) (p < .01). There was a significant difference between relationship types for individual reasons $(F_{(2, 240)} = 5.56, p < .01)$. Follow up tests detected a significant difference between platonic friends (M = .63, SD = .59) and current romantic (M = .43, SD = .57) (p < .05) as well as past romantic partners (M = .31, SD = .47) (p < .01). There were no significant differences between relationship type and other reasons.

Research question 6 asked if there were any differences between same-sex friends and cross-sex friends in terms of taboo topic types or reasons. A factorial ANOVA was conducted and found no significant differences between same-sex and cross-sex friends in terms of topics or reasons.

RQ6

Research question 7 asked which topics were explicitly declared taboo. Participants were asked to report whether or not a topic had been explicitly declared taboo in their relationship. Of

the 286 topics reported, 65.7% (k = 188) were reported as not being explicitly deemed as such, while 34.3% (k = 98) were explicitly declared taboo. In other words the majority of taboo topics were merely assumed to be taboo between participants and their friends or romantic partners (see Table 6).

Discussion

Comparing the present study to the original study conducted 30 years ago by Baxter and Wilmot (1985) has revealed some interesting differences between the kinds of topics reported as taboo then and now. Some categories were reported more frequently, others less, and some did not appear in the current dataset, paving the way for new categories to emerge.

State of the relationship (with an added subcategory of previous state of the relationship) made up 15% of the total reported topics in the present study, in contrast to 34.4% of Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) data. Their results extended Wilmot's (1980) finding that explicit relationship metacommunication was an infrequently reported phenomenon due to being intentionally avoided (Cline, 1979). The present study's finding of state of the relationship talk being not as prevalent suggests that this kind of relational metacommunication may no longer be a dominant taboo topic among close relationships. Participants were able to report as many as six topics, but most only reported one or two, likely the most important (or obvious?) one. Relational metacommunication may still be a taboo topic in close relationships, but in the current study it may not have been the most dominant taboo topic, since it was not reported as frequently. Future research could investigate how relational partners feel about specific kinds of metacommunication to see if it is still as dominant a taboo topic.

Extra-relationship activity was reported more frequently in the present study than by Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) participants, suggesting that discussing outside relationships is just as if not more taboo than when the original study was conducted. Participants noted different kinds of outside relationships as taboo, however, topics related to an outside relationship were all coded as "extra-relationship activity," topics were not further categorized by specific outside relationship type (e.g., family member, or other friend). Future research could investigate whether or not a specific kind of relationship is taboo (i.e., parent, past romantic partner, coworker, etc.), and if the relational context plays a role (i.e., discussing a boyfriend's is being taboo vs. discussing a friend's parent is taboo).

Baxter and Wilmot (1985) reported relationship norms as their third most reported taboo topic (12.8%), while the present study found it to be the least reported taboo topic (1.4%). This finding may suggest that discussing norms within a relationship is more acceptable, though it may also be due to participants reporting a small number of topics. Participants could report up to six topics, but most reported one. They likely reported the most important taboo topic. This could suggest that even if relationship norms is considered a taboo a topic, it is not as important or dominant a taboo topic as it was in the original study, and could warrant further investigation.

Beyond the original categories, nine new categories emerged in the present study (sex, hot button topics, health, individual's past/present/future, personal issues, death/dying, and money/finances). Consistent with previous studies (Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Anderson et al., 2011; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995; Sargent, 2002) in which sex and sexual topics were found to be taboo topics, sex was the second most frequently reported topic overall. Participants reported that discussing sex or sexual encounters could make them or their partners feel uncomfortable, reflecting on past sexual partners might led to arguments and hurt feelings, and talking about sex

in certain relationships was considered particularly inappropriate (i.e., platonic friends). Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) data hinted at this, as sex and sexual topics were listed under both their prior relationships and relationship norms topics, but due to the amount of different topics reported that were all related to sex in the current dataset, sex as its own topic category was warranted.

Analyses did not find significant differences between women and men for their reported topics or reasons, but a few significant differences between relational type and topics as well as relational type and reasons did emerge. Participants reporting on a current romantic relationship reported significantly more relational talk topics than both friends and past romantic (though there was no significant difference between friends and past romantic). It may seem odd that current romantic partners were more likely to avoid engaging in relational talk, but one of the categories housed under relational talk was prior relationships, and participants almost entirely reported prior romantic relationships in this category. Participants reporting on a current romantic relationship stated their reasons for avoiding discussing past romantic relationships is that it would do more harm than good to their romantic current relationships, which is why this was housed under the relational talk second-level code. Some individuals may avoid discussing past relationships to help maintain their current ones. Baxter and Wilmot (1985) found that platonic and romantic potential friends avoided discussing the state of the relationships because they were not a close enough relationship to engage in relational metacommunication, which could potentially explain why friends avoided topics that fell under the relational talk secondlevel code. This finding supports the findings of the original study that individuals avoid both explicit and implicit relational metacommunication. Baxter and Wilmot (1985) included topics such as extra-relationship activity, and prior relationships as implicit relational

metacommunication. This kind of talk was implicitly tied back to the relationship but did not include the explicit discussion of the relationship being reported on.

A lack of significant differences could be explained by the low numbers of reported topics (per person) in the present dataset. Even though this study had more participants, and participants were given the opportunity to list as many as six taboo topics per relationship, participants on average reported one. The majority of participants reported on a platonic friend, and far fewer participants reported on a current romantic relationship, and a recent romantic relationship, making it less likely to find significant differences between groups. A possible explanation could be that people have fewer, or less salient, taboo topics in their close relationships. Replicating this study with a larger sample size, or interviewing participants could result in participants reporting a higher number of taboo topics.

Friends were more likely to report emotional topics as taboo (i.e., hot button topics, sex, finances/money, and death/dying) than current romantic partners; moreover, participants reported that talking about these topics within their friendships could result in hurt feelings, arguments, or just general negative emotions from both parties. In romantic relationships partners might be more open to talking about emotional topics if they feel close or comfortable disagreeing, and this pattern might be found in friends (i.e., many participants in the current study did note that these kinds of topics were too personal, even though they were reporting on a close friend). Friendships are by nature voluntary conceptualized by Wiseman (1986) as "exceedingly fragile" (p. 191). The fragile nature of friendships may lead participants to believe that bringing up emotional talk topics (i.e., topics that they may fundamentally disagree with their friends on) would be too risky and potentially cause more harm than good.

Interestingly, there were significant differences only between the reasons reported for past romantic partners and the reasons reported for friends. Friends reported more individual reasons (such as protecting themselves or their partner from negative feelings, or a right to privacy). Friends felt that a number of different topics were either too personal to discuss, or the topic was none of their business. Participants worried more about upsetting or offending their friend, perhaps thinking that doing so might lead to the eventual demise of the friendship. Participants also noted not wanting to make themselves upset, or make themselves look bad in the eyes of their partner, supporting previous research. Afifi and Guerrero (1998) found that individuals avoided topics for self-protection; Guerrero (1997) and Leary, Downs, and Radford-Davenport (1993) found that individuals were concerned with self-preservation with cross-sex friends.

Participants reporting on a recent romantic relationship reported more relational reasons, even though those relationships are no longer intact, and in particular reported avoiding topics so as not to harm the relationship. Participants were not asked if any of the taboo topics specifically led to their past romantic relationship ending, but perhaps this could be investigated in a future study to understand the extent to which discussing specific taboo topics have detrimental effects on relationships that participants reported on. The definition of taboo topics given for each set of questions, regardless of relationship type being reported on, was written in present tense (e.g., "For the following questions, think about your most recent romantic partner and topics that you do not talk about because they are considered taboo") which may have primed participants reporting on a past romantic partner to think about topics they avoid now, although all specific questions about taboo topics with a past romantic partner were written in past tense.

The present study asked participants to note whether or not a topic was explicitly declared taboo, and the majority of topics reported as taboo had not been explicitly labeled as such. This indicates that the majority of participants are assuming a given topic is taboo without confirming that directly in conversations with their partners. This finding suggests that talking about taboo topics is taboo in close relationships. Many participants expressed that the topic had been brought up in the past and the reaction of their relational partner led them to believe it was taboo. Others had brought up a topic that was taboo for personal reasons (e.g., it was something they did not like discussing and would rather their partner not bring it up either), but many participants did not know definitively whether or not a topic was taboo (but avoided it anyway). Baxter, Dun, and Sahlstein (2001) investigated the ways that individuals communicated the rules of relating, and found that many participants communicated these rules through the use of gossip. Participants in this study may have discovered a specific topic was taboo through gossiping about the topic in relation to other people and gauged their partner's reaction. Future studies could be done to investigate the ways that individuals indirectly determine whether or not a topic is taboo. Future studies should also look into the topics that both relational partners report as taboo in their relationship. Dyadic data could shed light on whether or not both relational partners consider the same specific topics taboo or not.

Limitations

As noted earlier, one limitation of this study was the small number of topics reported per participant. Had participants reported more topics perhaps more significant differences could have been teased out of the current dataset. Replicating this study with a larger sample, or utilizing in-depth interviews could solicit a higher number of taboo topics per participant. The majority of participants (n= 148, 91.9%) reported on a platonic friendship, and fewer participants

reported on a romantic relationship (n = 110, 75.3%), which may account for the lack of significant differences between relationship types. Participants were first asked to report on a friendship, then asked if they were currently or recently in a romantic relationship. Some people may have not wanted to report on a romantic relationship after reporting on a friendship, or the sample may just have included a lot of people currently or recently in a romantic relationship. Had the survey order been randomized (i.e., some report on a friend first, some report on a romantic first) more participants may have reported on a romantic relationship. Another limitation was that mostly young (M = 21.5, SD = 5.5 years) women (n = 111, 75.3% of total participants) completed the survey. Low numbers of men could have made it difficult to find significant differences between groups, replicating this study with a larger sample size may result in more significant differences between men and women.

Conclusion

The present study intended to test and update Baxter and Wilmot's (1985) "Taboo Topics in Close Relationships" to generate a list of the topics that individuals avoid discussing in close relationships and the reasons they do so. Supporting the findings of studies published since the original, the present study investigated the original topics and also found differences in terms of the types of topics individuals avoid in their close relationships (e.g., Afifi & Burgoon, 1998; Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Anderson, et al., 2011; Bisson & Levine, 2009; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995; Knoblach & Theune, 2004, Sargent, 2002). The present study had enough cases to be able to test for sex and relationship type differences in terms of topics and reasons for topics being taboo, and was able to find differences between for topics and reasons between friends and romantic relationships, differentiating these results from the original Baxter and Wilmot (1985) study, and supporting previous research that has found differences by sex and relationship type (e.g., Afifi & Burgoon, 1998; Afifi & Guerrero, 1998; Golish & Caughlin, 2002; Guerrero & Afifi, 1995). While the present study did find some of same types of topics that the original Baxter and Wilmot (1985) study found, the frequency with which those topics were reported was different than the original study. These changes indicate that the types of topics individuals avoid in their close relationships have in fact changed over the last 30 years; as scholars continue to study taboo topics and topic avoidance in close relationship, it is important to keep in mind that these topics may change over time, warranting future updates to the list generated by the present study.

Table 1

Topic Categories

Individual Talk	
Extra-Relationship Activity	Topics relating to relationships or relational activity outside of the dyad being reported on
	"His relationship with his Dad"; "Other friends"
Health	Topics relating to one of the individuals physical or mental health.
	"His mental health issues" "her weight"
Personal Issues	Personal things only pertaining to one partner
	"His tattoos" "Grades"
Individual's Past/Present/Future	Specific events in one of the individuals past, present, or plans for their individual future
	"Going to different colleges" "His adoption"
Relational Talk	
Prior Relationships	Previous (romantic) relationships (this category was not limited to romantic relationships but the only prior relationships reported were romantic in nature)
	"Ex-partners" "His first love"
State of the Relationship	Topics relating to the current or future state of the relationship.
	"Moving in together" "Marriage"
Previous State of the Relationship	A prior event or state of the current relationship being reported on.
	"The time we dated (reported for a platonic friend)" "Things he did in the past that upset me"
Relationship Norms	Rules or behaviors in the relationship.
	"Comparing each other to other people" "Pointing out a loose thread or a zit"
Emotional Talk	
Sex	Topics relating to sex, sexual health, or sexual history.
	"Sex" "Pornography"
Hot Button Topics	Topics relating to cultural ideals or debates.
	"Religion" "Politics"
Death/Dying	Topics relating to death or a specific person who had died.
	"Their child who recently passed" "The death of their parent"
Money/Finances	Topics relating to money or finances.
see	"Income" "His spending habits"

Other

Table 2

Reason (Categories
----------	------------

	÷
Relational Reasons	
Negative relational implications	Conflict between relational partners, jealousy by one or both, anger towards one another.
	"We would fight" "He would become jealous"
Relationship destruction	Relationship could/would end.
	"He would break up" "he might freak out and break up with me"
Threat to current relationship	Discussion of topic would negatively affect the state of the relationship
	"Talking about exes may make us realize we want to be with them instead of with each other"
Negative network implications	Affecting outside networks or relationships in their network.
	"His family would find out if we talked about them, it would upset them" "The things we say about our teammates might accidentally get back to them and cause unnecessary drama"
Effectiveness of the tacit mode	Talking about it wouldn't do or change anything
	"Because I know she is wrong due to the facts that she presents (which have been proven to be incorrect)" "It's stupid talking about it"
Inappropriate for relationship type	Topic not appropriate for the relationship context.
	"She should talk about ex-boyfriends with her friends but not with me (her current boyfriend)"
Change in relationship status	Could alter the current relationship status.
	"Talking about sex with my friend might make us realize we want to be more than friends"
ndividual Reasons	
Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions	One or both partners may feel upset, angry, uncomfortable or some other negative emotion.
	"He would become angry and defensive" "I would be uncomfortable"
Embarrassment	One of the partner's might specifically feel embarrassed.
	"Pointing out a flaw would make my spouse feel embarrassed and self- conscious"
Negatively-valenced self- disclosure/impression management	Topics that might make one partner look bad in the eyes of the other, or something negative about them.
	"He would judge me" "my friend is also my boss, I don't talk about politics because I don't want that to affect the way they view me as their employee"

Individual vulnerability	Discussion of a topic would leave an individual feeling vulnerable or exposed.
	"I would feel targeted"
Right to privacy	Individual has the right to private information.
	"She would feel like I am butting into her love life"
Irrelevance of the past	Bringing up past events or relationships are not relevant anymore.
	"Bringing up things we have already worked out or gotten past keeps us from moving forward"
Other	

	Current Study	Baxter & Wilmot
Individual Talk		
Extra-Relationship Activity	19.5% (55)	15.7% (27)
Health	7.8% (22)	-
Individual's Past/Present/Future	4.6 % (13)	-
Personal Issues	3.9% (11)	-
Relational Talk		
Prior Relationships	14.5% (41)	12.8% (22)
State of the Relationship	4.3% (12)	34.4% (59)
Previous State of the Relationship	2.5% (7)	-
Relationship Norms	1.4 %(4)	12.8% (22)
Emotional Talk		
Sex	16.6% (47)	-
Hot Button Topics	16.3% (46)	-
Death/Dying	2.5 (7)	-
Money/Finances	2.5% (7)	-
Other	2.8% (8)	4.7% (8)
Total Cases	282	172

Table 3

Percentage (k) of Taboo Topics in Current Study vs. Baxter & Wilmot (1985)

	Platonic Friend	Current Romantic Partner	Past Romantic Partner	Total
lividual Talk				
Extra-Relationship Activity	29	19	7	55
	19%	21.4%	17.9%	19.5%
Health	14	3	5	22
	9.2%	3.3%	12.8%	7.8%
Individual's Past/Present/Future	4	2	7	13
	2.5%	2.2%	17.9%	4.6%
Personal Issues	6	4	1	11
Relational Talk	4%	4.4%	2.6%	3.9%
Prior Relationships	10	25	6	41
	6.6%	28.1%	15.4%	14.5%
State of the Relationship	1	11	-	12
	.7%	12.5%	-	4.3%
Previous State of the Relationship	6	1	-	7
	4%	1.1%	-	2.5%
Relationship Norms	1	2	1	4
	.7%	2.2%	2.6%	1.4%
Cmotional Talk				
Sex	34	9	4	47
	22.4%	10.2%	10.3%	16.6%
Hot Button Topics	31	9	6	46
	20.4%	10.2%	15.4%	16.3%
Death/Dying	6	1	-	7
	4%	1.1%	-	2.5%
Money/Finances	4	1	2	7

Table 4 Frequencies of Taboo Topics by Relationship Type

	2.5%	1.1%	5.2%	2.5%	
Other	6	2	-	8	
	4%	2.2%	-	2.8%	
Total	152	89	39	282	

	Platonic Friend	Current Romantic Partner	Past Romantic Partner	Total
Relational Reasons				
Negative relational implications	51	27	18	96
	39.8%	34.1%	50%	39.5
Relationship destruction	1	3	0	4
	0.8%	3.8%	-	1.7%
Threat to current relationship	0	3	0	3
	-	3.8%	-	1.2%
Negative network implications	3	1	0	4
	2.4%	1.3%	-	1.7%
Effectiveness of the tacit mode	2	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4	
	1.5%	-	5.6%	1.7%
Inappropriate for relationship type	0	1	0	1
	-	1.3%	-	0.4%
Change in relationship status	1	0	0	1
	0.8%	-	-	0.4%
Individual Reasons				
Protect self/other from negative feelings/emotions	49	29	10	88
	38.2%	36.7%	27.8%	36.2%
Embarrassment	0	1	0	1
	-	1.3%	-	0.4%
Negatively-valenced self-disclosure/impression management	6	1	1	8
	4.8%	1.3%	2.8%	3.3%
Individual vulnerability	1	1	0	2

Table 5Frequency of Reasons by Relationship Type

	0.8%	1.3%	-	0.8%
Right to privacy	2	0	0	2
	1.5%	-	-	0.8%
Irrelevance of the past	1	0	0	1
	0.8%	-	-	0.4%
Other	11	12	5	28
	8.6%	15.1%	13.8%	11.5%
Total	128	79	36	243

Table 6

Frequency of Explicitly Decided Taboo Topics By Relationship Type

	Platonic Friend		Current Romantic Relationship		Past Romantic Relationship	
Individual Talk	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes
Extra-Relationship Activity	23	6	12	7	-	7
	19.2%	18.8%	23.5%	18.4%		30.4%
Health	11	3	2	1	3	2
	9.3%	9.4%	3.9%	2.6%	17.6%	8.6%
Personal Issues	4	2	3	1	1	-
	3.3%	6.2%	5.9%	2.6%	5.9%	
Individual's Past/Present/Future	4	-	1	1	3	4
	4.2%	-	2%	2.6%	17.7%	17.4%
Relational Talk						
Prior Relationships	7	3	11	14	2	4
	5.8%	9.4%	21.5%	36.8%	11.7%	17.4%
State of the Relationship	1	-	7	4	-	1
	.8%	-	13.7%	10.6%		4.4%
Previous State of the Relationship	5	1	1	-	-	-
	4.2%	3.1%	2%			
Relationship Norms	1	-	1	1	-	1
	.8%	-	2%	2.6%		4.4%
Emotional Talk						
Sex	28	6	5	4	4	-
	23.3%	18.8%	9.8%	10.6%	23.5%	
Hot Button Topics	23	8	6	3	3	3
	19.2%	25%	11.7%	8%	17.7%	13%
Death/Dying	5	1	-	1	-	-
	4.2%	3.1%		2.6%		
Money/Finances	4	-	1	-	1	1
	4.2%	-	2%		59%	4.4%

Other	4	2	1	1	-	-
	3.3%	6.2%	2%	2.6%		
Total	121	32	51	38	17	23
	79%	21%	57.3%	42.7%	42.5%	57.8%

References

- Afifi, W. A., & Burgoon, J. K. (1998). "We never talk about that": A comparison of cross-sex friendships and dating relationships on uncertainty and topic avoidance. *Personal Relationships*, 5(3), 255–272. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6811.1998.tb00171
- Afifi, W. A., & Guerrero, L. K. (1998). Some things are better left unsaid II: Topic avoidance in friendships. *Communication Quarterly*, 46(3), 231–249.
- Altman, I., & Taylor, D. A. (1973). Social penetration: The development of interpersonal relationships. New York, NY: Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Anderson, M., Kunkel, A., & Dennis, M. R. (2011). "Let's (not) talk about that": Bridging the past sexual experiences taboo to build healthy romantic relationships. *Journal of Sex Research*, 48(4), 381–391. doi: 10.1080/00224499.2010.482215
- Baumgarte, R. (2002). Cross-gender friendship: The troublesome relationship. In R. Goodwin & D. Cramer (Eds.), *Inappropriate relationships: The unconventional, the disapproved & the forbidden*. (pp. 103–124). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Baxter, L.A., Dun, T., & Sahlstein, E. (2001). Rules for relating communicated among social network members. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 18 (2), 173-199. doi: 10.1177/0265407501182002
- Baxter, L. A., & Wilmot, W. W. (1985). Taboo topics in close relationships. *Journal of Social* and Personal Relationships, 2(3), 253–269. doi: 10.1177/0265407585023002
- Bisson, M. A., & Levine, T. R. (2009). Negotiating a friends with benefits relationship. *Archives* of Sexual Behavior, 38(1), 66–73. doi: 10.1007/s10508-007-9211-2
- Burke, R. A. & Fuqua, D. R. (1987). Sex differences in same- and cross-sex supportive relationships. *Sex Roles*, *17*(5), 339-352.

- Caughlin, J. P. & Afifi, T. D. (2004). When is topic avoidance unsatisfying? Examining moderators of the association between avoidance and dissatisfaction. *Human Communication Research*, 30(4), 479-513. doi: 10.1093/hcr/30.4.479.
- Caughlin, J. P. & Golish, T. D. (2002). An analysis of the association between topic avoidance and dissatisfaction: comparing perceptual and interpersonal explanations. *Communication Monographs*, 69(4), 275–295. doi: 10.1080/03637750216546
- Cline, T. R. (1979). A markov analysis of strangers', roommates', and married couples' conversational focus on their relationships. *Southern Communication Journal*, 45(1), 55-68. doi: 10.1080/10417947909372437
- DePaulo, B. M., & Kashy, D. A. (1998). Everyday lies in close and casual relationships. *Journal* of Personality and Social Psychology, 74(1), 63–79. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.63
- Dillow, M. R., Dunleavy, K. N., & Weber, K. D. (2009). The impact of relational characteristics and reasons for topic avoidance on relational closeness. *Communication Quarterly*, 57(2), 205–223. doi: 10.1080/01463370902889190
- Donovan-Kicken, E., Guinn, T. D., Romo, L. K., & Ciceraro, L. D. L. (2013). Thanks for asking, but let's talk about something else: Reactions to topic-avoidance messages that feature different interaction goals. *Communication Research*, 40(3), 308–336. doi: 10.1177/0093650211422537
- Donovan-Kicken, E., McGlynn, J., & Damron, J. C. H. (2012). When friends deflect questions about sensitive information: Questioners' cognitive complexity and explanations for friends' avoidance. *Western Journal of Communication*, 76(2), 127–147. doi: 10.1080/10570314.2011.653856

- Goffman, E. (1967). *Interaction ritual: Essays on face-to-face behaviour*. Garden City, NY: Anchor Books.
- Golish, T.D. & Caughlin, J. P. (2002). "I'd rather not talk about it": Adolescents' and young adults use of topic avoidance in stepfamilies. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 30(1), 78-106. doi: 10.1080/00909880216574
- Guerrero, L. K. (1997). Nonverbal involvement across interactions with same-sex friends, opposite-sex friends and romantic partners: Consistency or change? *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 14(1), 31-58. doi: 10.1177/0265407597141002
- Guerrero, L. K., & Afifi, W. A. (1995). Some things are better left unsaid: Topic avoidance in family relationships. *Communication Quarterly*, *43*(3), 276–296.
- Hacker, H. M. (1981). Blabbermouths and clams: Sex differences in self-disclosure in same-sex and cross-sex friendship dyads. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *5*(3), 385-401. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6402.1981.tb00581.x
- Jang, S. A., & Yoo, J. H. (2009). Topic avoidance in close relationships: Applying the theory of planned behavior. *Human Communication*, 12(2), 119–135.
- Knobloch, L. K., & Carpenter-Theune, K. E. (2004). Topic avoidance in developing romantic relationships associations with intimacy and relational uncertainty. *Communication Research*, 31(2), 173–205. doi: 10.1177/0093650203261516
- Kurth. S. B. (1970). Friendships and friendly relations. In G. J. McCall, M. M. McCall, N. K.Denzin, G. D. Suttles, & S. B. Kurth (Eds.), *Social relationships* (pp. 136–170). Chicago, IL: Aldine.

- Leary, M. R., Downs, D. L., & Radford-Davenport, J. (June, 1993). *Self-presentational motives in daily interactions*. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Network on Personal Relationship, Milwaukee, WI.
- Malachowski, C. C., & Dillow, M. R. (2011). An examination of relational uncertainty, romantic intent, and attraction on communicative and relational outcomes in cross-sex friendships.
 Communication Research Reports, 28(4), 356–368. doi: 10.1080/08824096.2011.616245
- Parks, M. R. (1982). Ideology in interpersonal communication: Off the couch and into the world.
 In M. Burgoon (Ed.), *Communication Yearbook 5* (pp. 79–108). New Brunswick, NJ:
 Transaction Books.
- Pilkington, C. J., & Bilbro, K. G. (June, 1993). *Interactions with same-sex friends, opposite-sex friends, and lovers: How different are they?* Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Network on Personal Relationships, Milwaukee, WI
- Rawlins, W. K. (1983). Openness as problematic in ongoing friendships: Two conversational dilemmas. *Communication Monographs*, 50(1), 1-13.
- Roloff, M. E., & Ifert, D. (1998). Antecedents and consequences of explicit agreements to declare a topic taboo in dating relationships. *Personal Relationships*, 5(2), 191–205. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6811.1998.tb00167.x
- Roloff, M. E., & Ifert, D. (2000). Conflict management through avoidance: Withholding complaints, suppressing arguments, and declaring topics taboo. In S. Petronio (Ed.), *Balancing the secrets of private disclosures* (pp. 151–164). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Roloff, M. E., & Johnson, D. I. (2001). Reintroducing taboo topics: Antecedents and consequences of putting topics back on the table. *Communication Studies*, *52*(1), 37–50. doi: 10.1080/10510970109388539

- Rosenfeld, L. B. (1979). Self-disclosure avoidance: Why am I afraid to tell you who I am? *Communication Monographs*, *46*(1), 63-74.
- Sargent, J. (2002). Topic avoidance: Is this the way to a more satisfying relationship? *Communication Research Reports*, *19*(2), 175–182. doi: 10.1080/08824090209384845
- Thompson, C. M., & Vangelisti, A. L. (2016). What happens when the standard for openness goes unmet in romantic relationships? Analyses of stress, coping, and relational consequences. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 33(3), 320-342 doi: 10.1177/0265407515574468
- Vangelisti, A. L., & Caughlin, J. P. (1997). Revealing family secrets: The influence of topic, function, and relationships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *14*(5), 679–705. http://doi.org/10.1177/0265407597145006
- Weger, H., & Emmett, M. C. (2009). Romantic intent, relationship uncertainty, and relationship maintenance in young adults' cross-sex friendships. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 26(6-7), 964–988. doi: 10.1177/0265407509347937
- Werking, K. J. (1997). We're just good friends: Women and men in nonromantic relationships. New York: Guilford.
- Wilmot, W. W. (1980). Metacommunication: A re-examination and extension. In D. Nimmo(Ed.), *Communication Yearbook 4* (pp. 61-69). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books.

Appendix A

Recruitment Email

Hello,

I am conducting a study about the kinds of topics people avoid discussing in their close relationships, and why they avoid discussing those topics. I am seeking participants who are at least 18 years old and would be willing to complete an online survey, this survey should take approximately 30 minutes.

Although participation in this study is optional, it would be greatly appreciated. This study will provide valuable information to help better understand what kinds of topics people avoid discussing and why.

The responses to the questionnaire will be confidential. Your participation is voluntary, and you will earn extra credit. The amount of extra credit is determined by the instructor based on 1 unit of research credit (30 minutes or less). An alternative assignment is available if you do not wish to participate in this study. There is no penalty for non-participation. Furthermore, you may refuse to answer any question or withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. Thank you,

Lauren J. Johnsen, ljohnsen@uwm.edu Communication MA Student IRB Approval: #16.148 11/13/2015

Appendix B

Extra Credit Alternative

- 1. Find a clip from a TV show or movie in which a character is avoiding the discussion of a topics or has declared a topic to be taboo with another character, and what might happen if they were to discuss the topic.
- 2. Write a one-page (12 pt., Times New Roman, double-spaced, 1-inch margins -top, right, left, and bottom) report:
 - a. First line of the document: write your name, course name that you want to get extra credit, section #, and course instructor's name
 - b. Identify the TV show or movie, the characters involved, and a brief summary of the clip
 - c. Identify and briefly explain the taboo topic, why that topic is taboo, and what might happen if they discuss it
- 3. Send your report to Lauren Johnsen via email (ljohnsen@uwm.edu). Your instructor will not be informed about whether you participated in the survey or took this alternative option. In other words, only the names of student that are eligible for extra credit will be sent to instructors.

Appendix C

Consent Form

University of Wisconsin – Milwaukee Consent to Participate in Online Survey Research

Study Title: Taboo Topics in Close Relationships: An Update

Person Responsible for Research: Erin Sahlstein Parcell, PhD (Principal Investigator, Communication Department) and Lauren Johnsen, MA (Student Investigator, Communication Department)

Study Description: The purpose of this research study is to create a list of taboo topics individuals avoid discussing in their close relationships, and why those topics are considered taboo. This study is intended to update the list Baxter and Wilmot (1985) created in their study. Approximately 100 subjects will participate in this study. If you agree to participate, you will be asked to complete an online survey that will take approximately 30 minutes to complete. The questions will ask you to list taboo topics in your close relationships and explain why they are taboo.

Risks / Benefits: Risks to participants are considered minimal. However, if participants feel uncomfortable or do not want to complete the entire study, they may skip or refrain from answering questions on the questionnaire. In addition, participants may withdraw from the study at any time. Collection of data and survey responses using the internet involves the same risks that a person would encounter in everyday use of the internet, such as breach of confidentiality. While the researchers have taken every reasonable step to protect your confidentiality, there is always the possibility of interception or hacking of the data by third parties that is not under the control of the research team.

There will be no costs for participating. A possible indirect benefit of completing the study is gaining a better understanding of taboo topics within close relationships. Extra credit is being offered for this study if you are enrolled in a class where the instructor awards extra credit for research participation. After you complete participation, the Principle Investigator and Student Investigator of this study will notify the instructor of your designated class that you have completed participation. An alternative option for extra credit for students who are not eligible or choose not to participate in the study will be offered. The amount of extra credit is determined by the instructor based on 1 unit of research credit (30 minutes or less). Be sure you understand your instructor's extra credit policy before you participate.

The alternative option for extra credit is as follows:

4. Find a clip from a TV show or movie in which a character is avoiding the discussion of a topics or has declared a topic to be taboo with another character, and what might happen if they were to discuss the topic.

5. Write a one-page (12 pt., Times New Roman, double-spaced, 1-inch margins -top, right, left, and bottom) report:

a. First line of the document: write your name, course name that you want to get extra credit, section #, and course instructor's name

b. Identify the TV show or movie, the characters involved, and a brief summary of the clip

c. Identify and briefly explain the taboo topic, why that topic is taboo, and what might happen if they discuss it

6. Send your report to Lauren Johnsen via email (ljohnsen@uwm.edu). Your instructor will not be informed about whether you participated in the survey or took this alternative option. In other words, only the names of student that are eligible for extra credit will be sent to instructors.

Limits to Confidentiality

Identifying information such as your name, TA, course section number and the Internet Protocol (IP) address of this computer will be collected on a separate survey for extra credit distribution. Data will be retained on the Qualtrics website server for one year and will be deleted after this time. However, data may exist on backups or server logs beyond the timeframe of this research project and may be analyzed in future studies. Data transferred from the survey site will be saved in an encrypted format for 3 years. Only the PI and Student PI will have access to the data collected by this study. However, the Institutional Review Board at UW-Milwaukee or appropriate federal agencies like the Office for Human Research Protections may review this study's records. The research team will remove your identifying information after data has been downloaded, during the analysis process, and all study results will be reported without identifying information so that no one viewing the results will ever be able to match you with your responses.

Voluntary Participation: Your participation in this study is voluntary. You may choose to not answer any of the questions or withdraw from this study at any time without penalty. Your decision will not change any present or future relationship with the University of Wisconsin Milwaukee.

Who do I contact for questions about the study: For more information about the study or study procedures, contact Dr. Erin Sahlstein Parcell at eparcell@uwm.edu or Lauren Johnsen at ljohnsen@uwm.edu.

Who do I contact for questions about my rights or complaints towards my treatment as a research subject? Contact the UWM IRB at 414-229-3173 or <u>irbinfo@uwm.edu</u>

Research Subject's Consent to Participate in Research:

By entering this survey, you are indicating that you have read the consent form, you are age 18 or older and that you voluntarily agree to participate in this research study.

IRB Approval: 16.148 11/13/2015

Thank you!

Appendix D

Taboo Topics Survey

Consent form – Agree/Disagree Demographics:

- 1. What is your age ____ (years)
- 2. What is your gender_____

Platonic Close Friendship Block

For the following questions, think about a platonic close friend. Demographics:

- 1. How long have you been friends (months)_____
- 2. What is your partner's gender?_____

Closeness Measure (Likert)

1-Strongly Disagree 2-Disagree 3-Slightly Disagree 4-Neither Agree Nor Disagree 5-Slightly Agree 6-Agree 7-Strongly Agree

- 1. My friend and I are close. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 2. I like my friend. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 3. My friend and I talk about personal things. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 4. My friend's opinion is important to me. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 5. I am satisfied with my relationship with my friend. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 6. I enjoy spending time with my friend. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 7. My relationship with my friend is important to me. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

For the following questions, think about a platonic close friend and topics that you do not talk about because they are considered taboo. A topic is considered 'taboo' if it is avoided because you anticipate negative outcomes from its discussion (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985).

- 1. What is one topic that is considered taboo to discuss with your friend?
- 2. What could happen if you talk about it with your friend? In other words, what is the potential negative outcome(s) of discussing it with them?
- 3. Did you and your friend explicitly decide it was taboo?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No (if so route to #4)
- 4. How do you know that it is taboo with your friend?
- 5. Are any other topics considered taboo with your friend?
 - a. Yes (route to copy of the taboo topic questions)
 - b. No (route to #6)
- 6. What else would you like me to know about taboo topics with your friend?

- 1. Are you currently in a romantic relationship?
 - a. Yes (route to Current Romantic Block)
 - b. No (route to #4)
- 2. Have you been in a romantic relationship in the last 2 year(s)?
 - c. Yes (route to Past Romantic Block)
 - d. No (skip both Romantic Partner Blocks, route to Close Friendship Block)

Current Romantic Partner Block

For the following questions, think about your current romantic partner. Demographic:

- 1. How long have you been together (months)?_____
- 2. What is your partner's gender?_
- 3. What is your relationship status?
 - a. Casual Dating
 - b. Serious Dating
 - c. Married/Life Partner
 - d. Other____

Closeness Measure

1-Strongly Disagree 2-Disagree 3-Slightly Disagree 4-Neither Agree Nor Disagree 5-Slightly Agree 6-Agree 7-Strongly Agree

- 1. My romantic partner and I are close. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 2. I like my romantic partner. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 3. My romantic partner and I talk about personal things. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 4. My romantic partner's opinion is important to me. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 5. I am satisfied with my relationship with my romantic partner. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 6. I enjoy spending time with my romantic partner. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 7. My relationship with my romantic partner is important to me. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Taboo [Copy and repeat 6 times]

For the following questions, think about your current romantic partner and topics that you do not talk about because they are considered taboo. A topic is considered 'taboo' if it is avoided because you anticipate negative outcomes from its discussion (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985).

- 1. What is one topic that is considered taboo to discuss with your romantic partner?
- 2. What could happen if you talk about it with your romantic partner? In other words, what is the potential negative outcome(s) of discussing it with them?
- 3. Did you and your romantic partner explicitly decide it was taboo?
 - a. Yes

- b. No (if so route to #4)
- 4. How do you know that it is a taboo topic with your romantic partner?
- 5. Are any other topics considered taboo with your romantic partner?
 - a. Yes (route to copy of the taboo topic questions)
 - b. No (route to #6)
- 6. What else would you like me to know about taboo topics with your romantic partner?

Past Romantic Partner Block

For the following questions, think about your most recent romantic partner. Demographic:

- 4. How long were you together (months)?_____
- 5. What is your partner's gender?____
- 6. What was your status?
 - a. Casual Dating
 - b. Serious Dating
 - c. Married/Life Partner
 - d. Other____

Closeness Measure

1-Strongly Disagree 2-Disagree 3-Slightly Disagree 4-Neither Agree Nor Disagree 5-Slightly Agree 6-Agree 7-Strongly Agree

- 1. My romantic partner and I were close. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 2. I liked my romantic partner. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 3. My romantic partner and I talked about personal things. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 4. My romantic partner's opinion was important to me. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 5. I was satisfied with my relationship with my romantic partner. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 6. I enjoyed spending time with my romantic partner. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
- 7. My relationship with my romantic partner was important to me 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Taboo: [copy and repeat 6 times]

For the following questions, think about your most recent romantic partner and topics that you do not talk about because they are considered taboo. A topic is considered 'taboo' if it is avoided because you anticipate negative outcomes from its discussion (Baxter & Wilmot, 1985).

- 1. What is one topic that was considered taboo to discuss with your romantic partner?
- 2. What could have happened if you talked about it with your romantic partner? In other words, what was the potential negative outcome(s) of discussing it with them?
- 3. Did you and your romantic partner explicitly decide it was taboo?
 - a. Yes
 - b. No (if so route to #4)
- 4. How did you know that it was taboo with your romantic partner?

- 5. Were any other topics considered taboo with your romantic partner?
 - a. Yes (route to copy of the taboo topic questions)
 - b. No (route to #6)
- 6. What else would you like me to know about taboo topics with your romantic partner?

Thank you for your time! Please exit the survey by clicking the submit button below, which will take you to a separate survey that will collect your information for extra credit in your COMMUN course.